

Stock assessment of Queensland east coast crimson snapper (*Lutjanus erythropterus*), Australia

2021



This publication has been compiled by A.R. Fox ¹, A.B. Campbell ¹, L.I. Sumpter ¹ and K. B. Hillcoat ².

¹ Fisheries Queensland, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries.

² College of Science and Engineering, James Cook University, Townsville, Qld, 4811, Australia ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University, Townsville, Qld, 4811, Australia.

Enquiries and feedback regarding this document can be made as follows:

Email:	info@daf.qld.gov.au
Telephone:	13 25 23 (Queensland callers only)
	(07) 3404 6999 (outside Queensland)
	Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Friday: 8 am to 5 pm, Thursday: 9 am to 5 pm
Post:	Department of Agriculture and Fisheries GPO Box 46 BRISBANE QLD 4001 AUSTRALIA
Website:	daf.qld.gov.au

Interpreter statement



The Queensland Government is committed to providing accessible services to Queenslanders from all culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. If you need an interpreter to help you understand this document, call **13 25 23** or visit **daf.qld.gov.au** and search for 'interpreter'.

© State of Queensland, 2021.

The Queensland Government supports and encourages the dissemination and exchange of its information. The copyright in this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) licence.

Under this licence you are free, without having to seek our permission, to use this publication in accordance with the licence terms.



You must keep intact the copyright notice and attribute the State of Queensland as the source of the publication.

Note: Some content in this publication may have different licence terms as indicated.

For more information on this licence, visit creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

The information contained herein is subject to change without notice. The Queensland Government shall not be liable for technical or other errors or omissions contained herein. The reader/user accepts all risks and responsibility for losses, damages, costs and other consequences resulting directly or indirectly from using this information.

Contents

Sι	umma	ary		i
Ac	cknov	vledge	ments	iv
GI	ossa	ry		v
1	Intro	oductio	on	1
2	Met	hods		5
	2.1	Data s	Sources	5
		2.1.1	Commercial	6
		2.1.2	Recreational	6
			2.1.2.1 Recreational fishing surveys	6
			2.1.2.2 Boat ramp survey	6
		2.1.3	Charter	6
		2.1.4	Indigenous	6
		2.1.5	Age and length compositions	6
	2.2	Harve	st estimates	7
	2.3	Stand	ardised index of abundance	8
	2.4	Discar	rds and discard mortality	10
	2.5	Biolog	ical relationships	11
		2.5.1	Fork length and total length	11
		2.5.2	Fecundity and maturity	11
		2.5.3	Weight and length	12
	2.6	Length	n and age data	12
	2.7	Popula	ation model	12
		2.7.1	Model assumptions	13
		2.7.2	Model parameters	13
		2.7.3	Model weightings	14
		2.7.4	Sensitivity tests	14
		2.7.5	Harvest control rule	15
3	Res	ults		17
	3.1	Model	inputs	17
		3.1.1	Harvest estimates	17
		3.1.2	Standardised index of abundance	18
		3.1.3	Age composition	19
		3.1.4	Length composition	19
		3.1.5	Discards	20
	3.2	Model	outputs	21
		3.2.1	Model parameters	21
		3.2.2	Model fits	21
		3.2.3	Selectivity	21
		3.2.4	Growth curve	22
		3.2.5	Biomass	23

	3.2.6 Harvest targets	24
4 Dis	scussion	26
4.1	Performance of the population model	26
4.2	2 Unmodelled influences	28
4.3	Recommendations	29
	4.3.1 Research and monitoring	29
	4.3.2 Management	30
	4.3.3 Assessment	31
4.4	Conclusions	31
Refere	ences	35
Annor	diy A. Model inpute	26
Apper		30
A. I		30
A.2		30
A.3		37
A.4	A 4.1 Ecoundity and maturity	37
		37 20
		39 20
		39
Apper	ndix B Model outputs	41
B.1	Parameter estimates	41
B.2	2 Goodness of fit	42
	B.2.1 Abundance indices	42
	B.2.2 Length compositions	43
	B.2.3 Conditional age-at-length compositions	44
	B.2.4 Discard fraction	45
B.3	3 Other outputs	45
	B.3.1 Phase plot	45
	B.3.2 Stock-recruit curve	47
B.4	Markov chain Monte Carlo	48
Apper	ndix C Sensitivity tests: model outputs	50
Apper	ndix D Sensitivity tests: other outputs	82
Apper	ndix E List of 'other species' in fishery	95

List of figures

1	Annual estimated harvest (retained catch) from commercial, recreational, charter and Indigenous sectors between 1958 and 2021 for crimson snapper	i
2	Annual standardised catch rates (with 95% confidence intervals) for commercial line caught crimson snapper between the years of 1997 and 2021	ii
3	Predicted spawning biomass trajectory relative to unfished for crimson snapper for the 'base case' scenario, from 1958 to 2021	iii
2.1	Overview of the methods used to reconstruct history of crimson snapper harvest	7
2.2	Map of regions used for catch rate analysis	9
2.3	Selectivity curve for discarded crimson snapper under minimum legal size	11
2.4	Maturity curve input into the model as extracted from Figure 6 of McPherson et al. (1992a)	12
2.5	The 20:60:60 and 20:40:40 harvest control rules	16
3.1	Data presence by year for each category of data type and Stock Synthesis fleet	17
3.2	Annual estimated harvest (retained catch) from commercial, recreational, charter and Indigenous sectors between 1958 and 2021 for crimson snapper	18
3.3	Annual standardised catch rates (95% confidence intervals) for commercial line caught	10
	crimson snapper between the years of 1997 and 2021	18
3.4	Annual age compositions of crimson snapper for line caught fish between 2018 and 2021	19
3.5	Annual length compositions of crimson snapper for commercial line caught fish between 2018 and 2021	19
36	Estimated annual length compositions of crimson snapper for recreational line caught-	13
0.0	and-discarded and caught-and-retained fish between 2017 and 2021	20
3.7	Model estimated length-based selectivity for crimson snapper by fleet in 2021	22
3.8	Model estimated growth curve for crimson snapper in 2021	22
3.9	Predicted spawning biomass trajectory relative to virgin for crimson snapper with 95%	
	confidence intervals (dotted lines) and the range of scenarios (grey) from 1958 to 2021 .	23
3.10	Predicted spawning biomass trajectory relative to virgin for crimson snapper, from 1958	
	to 2021, for all scenarios (as described in Section 2.7.4)	23
3.11	Equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper	24
A.1	Annual standardised catch rates multiplied by their calculated catchability coefficient and	
	and 2021	26
۸ O	Conditional aga at length compositions of arimage apapter between 2018 and 2021	30
A.2	Maturity at length for orimoon chapper	37 27
A.3	Spawning output (maturity times focundity) at age for crimson snapper	20
A.4	Spawning output (maturity times focundity) at length for crimson snapper	20
A.5	Weight length relationship for crimson snapper	30
A.7	von Bortalanffy growth curves for male, fomale and combined crimson snapper in Lock-	39
Π.1	hart and Cooktown regions	20
A۵	95% bivariate data ellipses of bootstrapped K (growth rate) and L_{∞} (mean maximum	00
/ 1.0	asymptotic size) estimates for male female and combined crimson snapper in Lockhart	
	and Cooktown regions	40

B.1	Model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper	42
B.2	Length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper	43
B.3	Length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper	43
B.4	Length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper	44
B.5	Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson	
	snapper	44
B.6	Model fit to total discards for recreational-charter-Indigenous fleet	45
B.7	Phase plot for crimson snapper	46
B.8	Stock-recruit plot for crimson snapper	47
B.9	Modelled harvest for crimson snapper	47
B.10	Trace plot for final spawning biomass after a Markov chain Monte Carlo for crimson snapper	48
B.11	Histogram and boxplot for final spawning biomass after a Markov chain Monte Carlo for	
	crimson snapper	48
B.12	Pairs plot for key parameters and model outputs after a Markov chain Monte Carlo for	
	crimson snapper	49
C.1	Visualisation of parameter estimates for all 14 sensitivity tests	50
C.2	Comparison of von Bertalanffy growth curves as defined by estimated growth parameters	
	for all scenarios for crimson snapper	51

List of tables

1	Current and target indicators	iii
1.1	History of crimson snapper management in Queensland	2
2.1 2.2	Data sources used in stock assessment	5 15
3.1 3.2 3.3	Estimated number of discards by the recreational-charter-Indigenous fleet	20 21 25
4.1	Current and target indicators, including B_{60}	30
A.1	Age and length sample sizes	36
B.1 B.2	Stock Synthesis parameter label explanation	41 41

Summary

Crimson snapper (*Lutjanus erythropterus*) is a species of tropical snapper that inhabits Queensland waters, forming one population (stock) on Queensland's east coast. This stock is primarily harvested by line fishing. Crimson snapper are gonochoristic (born male or female and do not change sex) and spawn primarily during spring and summer. They can grow to 79 cm (fork length) and live for at least 35 years (DAF, unpublished data).

This is the first stock assessment of the Queensland east coast stock of crimson snapper. It implemented a one-sex population model fit to age and length data, constructed within the Stock Synthesis modelling framework.

The model incorporated data spanning the period from 1989 to 2021 including commercial harvest (1989–2021), recreational harvest (2001–2019), boat-ramp surveys (2017–2021) and age-length monitoring (2018–2021).

Over the last five years, 2017 to 2021, the Queensland total harvest averaged 34 tonnes per year, including 12 tonnes by the commercial sector, and 22 tonnes by the charter, recreational, and Indigenous sectors combined (Figure 1). The commercial and charter harvest were based on logbook reporting whereas the recreational and Indigenous harvest were estimated from surveys and interpolated between survey years. The recreational, Indigenous and charter estimates were recorded in numbers of fish and converted to weight in kilograms by the population model. The commercial harvest was recorded in kilograms. The fishery was modelled using two fleets: commercial and 'recreational' (which included charter and Indigenous catch).



Figure 1: Annual estimated harvest (retained catch) from commercial, recreational, charter and Indigenous sectors between 1958 and 2021 for crimson snapper—the latter three sectors were modelled as a single fleet

Commercial catch rates were standardised to estimate an index of crimson snapper abundance through time (Figure 2). The unit of standardisation was kilograms of crimson snapper per boat per day. Explanatory terms used in the standardisation model included year, region, fisher, number of crew members, weight of co-caught coral trout and redthroat emperor, and weight of all other commonly co-caught reef species.



Figure 2: Annual standardised catch rates (with 95% confidence intervals) for commercial line caught crimson snapper between the years of 1997 and 2021

Fourteen model scenarios were run, covering a wide range of modelling assumptions. Base case (preferred) scenario results suggested that spawning biomass declined between 1958 and 2019 to 35% unfished spawning biomass. In 2021, the stock level was estimated to be 44% (21–45% range across scenarios) unfished spawning biomass (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Predicted spawning biomass trajectory relative to unfished for crimson snapper for the 'base case' scenario, from 1958 to 2021

The harvest consistent with a spawning biomass ratio of 60%, the reef line harvest strategy objective for species with a published stock assessment, was estimated at 34 t (24–36 t range across scenarios; all sectors). The recommended harvest in the 2022 financial year is 16 t (0–16 t range across scenarios) in order to achieve this target by 2031.

For secondary species in a multi-species fishery, the Queensland harvest strategy policy requires a minimum objective of maximum sustainable harvest. The harvest consistent with a spawning biomass ratio of 40%, a proxy for biomass at maximum sustainable harvest, was estimated at 45 t (32–48 t range across scenarios; all sectors). The recommended harvest in the 2022 financial year is 51 t (0–54 t range across scenarios) in order to achieve this target by approximately 2041.

Table [•]	1:	Current	and	target	indicators
--------------------	----	---------	-----	--------	------------

Parameter	Estimate
Current (2021) spawning biomass (relative to unfished)	44% (21–45%)
Biomass at maximum sustainable harvest	26% (26–30%)
Current (2021) harvest	30.2 t
Commercial	12.5 t
Recreational + Charter + Indigenous	17.7 t
Sustainable harvest at spawning $B_{40\%}$	45 t (32–48 t)
Maximum sustainable harvest	48 t (34–52 t)
Proposed harvest (2022) to achieve $B_{40\%}$ target 51 t (0–54 t)	
Time to reach target	10 years (9–20+ years)

Acknowledgements

The work was overseen by a project team committee that consisted of the authors and the following scientists, data specialists and managers: Carlie Heaven, Sue Helmke, Eddie Jebreen, Chad Lunow, Amos Mapleston, Tyson Martin, Anthony Roelofs, Darren Roy, Mai Tanimoto and Sam Williams. The role of the committee was collaborative, to share interpretation and decision making on data inputs, assessment methods and results.

In addition to their roles on the committee, we would like to thank Carlie Heaven for assistance with the Queensland commercial harvest data; Tyson Martin for the provision of, and assistance with, the Queensland boat ramp survey data; Rachel Janes and Daniella Teixeira for the provision of, and assistance with the Queensland recreational statewide survey data and Lucas Sumpter for the assistance with, the biological age and length monitoring data.

In addition to her role on the committee we thank Mai Tanimoto for her constructive feedback which has led to a stronger assessment and report.

We also thank the many Fisheries Queensland staff involved over the years in motivating, designing, implementing and managing the Reef OS (Other Species) program, and in collecting, processing and analysing otolith and length data: Lachlan Barter, John Cavallaro, Megan Daly, Peter Graham, Wayne Hagedoorn, Sue Helmke, Shirin Hyatt, Sophie Johns, Katrina Kaposi, Chad Lunow, Jason McGilvray, Daniel McInnes, Ricky Midgely, Jamie Nicolson, Cassandra Peters, Andrew Prosser, Robert Prosser, Emily Purton, Tom Roberts, Peta Schofield, Darren Smallwood, Nick Stratford, Jonathon Staunton Smith, Lucas Sumpter, Jack Walsh, Shannon White and Jayden Zieth.

We would like to thank Professor Garry Russ for his supervision, guidance and support of the doctoral thesis of Kyle Hillcoat at James Cook University (JCU). We also acknowledge those who provided supervision, funding, assistance and support for the Hillcoat thesis, including the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies at JCU, Professor Howard Choat, Chad Lunow and Sue Reilly.

We thank all the fishers who donated fish frames for biological data and also thank them dedication to research and their commitment to the future of the fishery.

We also thank Samara French for report edits and review.

Finally, we would like to thank Eddie Jebreen and Malcolm Pearce, in addition to members of the committee, for reviewing and providing comments on the draft report. The assessment was supported by the Queensland Department of Agriculture and Fisheries.

Glossary

\mathbf{B}_{40}	40% of unfished spawning biomass, a proxy for biomass at maximum sustainable yield
B ₆₀	60% of unfished spawning biomass, a proxy for biomass at maximum economic yield
biomass	spawning biomass, the total weight of all adult (reproductively mature) fish in a population, an indicator of the status of the stock and its reproductive capacity
blue zone	associated with reefs in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park that remained open to fishing after the introduction of the Representative Areas Program in 2004, and all areas on the Queensland east coast outside the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park
CFISH	Commercial Fisheries Information System, which is the compulsory commercial logbook database managed by Fisheries Queensland
fleet	a population modelling term used to distinguish types of fishing activity: typically a fleet will have its own selectivity curve that characterises the likelihood that fish of various sizes (or ages) will be caught by the fishing gear
GBR	Great Barrier Reef
GBRMP	Great Barrier Reef Marine Park
GBRMPA	Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority
green zone	associated with reefs that were closed to fishing at the introduction of the Representative Areas Program
FL	fork length, measured from the tip of fish's nose to the fork in its tail
МсМС	Markov chain Monte Carlo, a statistical computer simulation method for estimating population model parameters and their variance
MLS	minimum legal size
MSH	maximum sustainable harvest
NRIFS	the National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey conducted by the Australian Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry
fisher-day	a day of fishing by a fishing operator, corresponding to a single daily logbook record (commercial)
RAP	Representative Areas Program
RFish	recreational fishing surveys conducted by Fisheries Queensland
RLF	Reef Line Fishery
SFS	Sustainable Fisheries Strategy
SRFS	Statewide Recreational Fishing Survey
SS	Stock Synthesis
TL	total length, measured from the tip of fish's nose to the end of its tail
year	modelled according to financial year (July–June)

1 Introduction

Crimson snapper (*Lutjanus erythropterus*) is a secondary target and by-product species in the Reef Line Fishery (formerly the Coral Reef Fin Fish Fishery) with an annual harvest of approximately 30 t across all sectors combined. The Reef Line Fishery (RLF) operates largely within the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park (GBRMP), extending from the northern tip of Cape York to 24°30' S (south of Brisbane).

Crimson snapper are widespread, found in the Indo-West Pacific from Australia and New Guinea to the Gulf of Oman, and northward to southern Japan (Allen 1985). Research on the biological stock structure of this species in Australian waters has only occurred in northern Australia, including the Timor Sea, the Arafura Sea and the Gulf of Carpentaria (Salini et al. 2006). It is considered that the species has five genetic stocks—in Western Australia (North Coast Bioregion), off the east coast of Queensland, in the Joseph Bonaparte Gulf, in the Timor and Arafura seas, and in the Gulf of Carpentaria (Salini et al. 2006; Saunders et al. 2018)—however there is limited information on the stock structure of crimson snapper for the east coast of Australia.

The limited tag recapture data that have been collected from the central Queensland coast indicate that crimson snapper have a recapture rate of 5.1% (Platten et al. 2007). Of those recaptured individuals, the maximum distance moved was 8 km, while 95% indicated no movement from their initial location (Platten et al. 2007).

Crimson snapper are found in trawling grounds and reefs to depths of at least 100 m (Newman 2002). They are present over shoals, rubble, corals, large epibenthos, hard or sandy mud substrates and offshore reefs (Kailola et al. 1993). They frequently form mixed shoals with saddletail snapper (*Lutjanus malabaricus*) (Allen 1985; Newman 2002). They feed on a broad range of prey dominated by fish, as well as small amounts of crustaceans, cephalopods and other benthic invertebrates (Kailola et al. 1993).

Crimson snapper are gonochoristic, meaning they are born male or female and do not change sex throughout their lives. They are relatively long-lived, and grow slowly after becoming reproductively mature (Newman et al. 2000). In Great Barrier Reef (GBR) waters, the fork length of females at 50% maturity was estimated to be 48.5 cm (McPherson et al. 1992b). Crimson snapper can reach an estimated maximum fork length of 79 cm in east coast Queensland waters (McPherson et al. 1992b) and live to at least 35 years.

Crimson snapper suffer from barotrauma when released. Brown et al. (2008) reported a post-release survival rate for crimson snapper of 84%, however this decreased to 10% survival if fish were in the lowest category for release condition in their study. This study was conducted on an inshore wreck near Townsville, Queensland at a depth of approximately 22 m with a high proportion of individuals under the minimum legal size (MLS). Juvenile crimson snapper (below the MLS) are more likely to inhabit inshore shallow waters (< 25 m) (Jones et al. 1988). Conversely, larger individuals (above the MLS) generally inhabit deeper waters (Williams et al. 1994). Therefore, an ontogenetic shift in post-release survival is likely, however not proven scientifically.

Crimson snapper are one of three large species of lutjanids (tropical snappers) that are prevalent secondary target species in the Reef Line Fishery, alongside saddletail snapper and red emperor (*L. malabaricus* and *L. sebae*, respectively). Due to their similar appearance, crimson snapper are sometimes misidentified as saddletail snapper (*Lutjanus malabaricus*) (Allen 1985). Crimson snapper (*L. ery-thropterus*) has previously been known as saddletail sea perch or small mouth nannygai, and saddletail snapper (*L. malabaricus*) have previously been known as scarlet sea perch or large mouth nannygai (McPherson et al. 1992b).

The Reef Line Fishery is Queensland's second most profitable (behind the East Coast Otter Trawl Fishery), with an estimated Gross Value of Production of \$27 million (Fisheries Queensland 2020).

This report considers four sectors in the Reef Line Fishery: Indigenous, commercial, charter and recreational. While coral trout for a live export market are the main target of the fishery, commercial fishers also harvest redthroat emperor and other coral reef species, including crimson snapper (see Appendix E for a full list of other species). Different 'Other Species' (OS) species are targeted using different fishing techniques compared to live trout. While species specific individual transferable quotas (ITQs) are in place for coral trout and redthroat emperor, crimson snapper and other targeted species are managed using a 'Other Species' (OS) combined/basket ITQ (Fisheries Queensland 2020).

Additional management measures in the fishery that pertain to crimson snapper include spawning closures, minimum size limits, compulsory logbook catch reporting, gear restrictions, vessel and tender restrictions and possession limits for recreational fishers (Fisheries Queensland 2020). The history of crimson snapper fishery management is provided in Table 1.

The fishing season is 1 July to 30 June annually, with two five-day spawning closures between October and November each year (Commonwealth of Australia 2017). Vessel length is restricted to a maximum of 25 m and tenders are limited by number and size (Fisheries Queensland 2020). In the commercial sector, gear is restricted to three fishing lines at a time with no more than six hooks per person (Fisheries Queensland 2020). Recreational fishers accessing the fishery can use hook and line, rods and reels, and spearfishing gear (excluding hookah/scuba) (Fisheries Queensland 2020).

The RLF is managed under the *Fisheries Act 1994* and its subordinate legislation. The Indigenous sector of the fishery is managed in consideration of the *Native Title Act 1993*, which allows Indigenous fishers to use prescribed traditional and non-commercial gear, and removes restrictions on size, possession limits and seasonal closures (Fisheries Queensland 2020).

Year	Management
1957	 Minimum size of 14 inches (35.56 cm) (listed as "Scarlet Sea-Perch (<i>Lutjanus malabaricus</i>)"). No MLS explicitly listed for <i>Lutjanus erythropterus</i> although it is assumed this applied to both nannygai species. The Fisheries Acts, 1957 to 1962
1975	Inclusion of no-fishing zones in the Great Barrier Reef. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Act 1975
1981	Zoning extended to Capricornia Section of GBRMP (Capricorn–Bunker reefs). GBR Marine Park Management
1982	Section 35 permit allows recreational fishers to sell excess catch.
1983	Zoning extended to Cairns Section of GBRMP (Lizard Island to Innisfail).
1987	Zoning extended to Central Section of GBRMP (Innisfail to Mackay).

 Table 1.1: History of crimson snapper management in Queensland

Continued on next page

Year	Management
1988	Zoning extended to Mackay-Capricorn Section of GBRMP (Mackay to the Swains).
1988	Introduction of compulsory commercial logbooks.
1990	Permits under section 35 allowing recreational fishers to sell catch was repealed. Fishing Industry Organisation and Marketing Regulation
1993	 Recreational possession limits of a combined total of 30 coral reef fish covering 26 species. Charter vessel possession limit arrangements: extended charters in excess of 48 hrs allowed double the prescribed possession limit. Restructure of commercial line fishery into regional endorsements—the existing L symbol was introduced into legislation with the numbers L1–L9 depicting different regions of operations. New format for landed fish, where a fish has been filleted there must be two fillets equal to one whole fish. Skin not to be removed from fillets by recreational fishers, except in the case of charter vessels in excess of 48 hours where the majority of the skin may be removed provided a minimum is left for identification. <i>Fishing Industry Organisation and Marketing Regulation</i>
May 1997	Investment Warning is issued.
Apr 2002	Second zoning of Far Northern Section of GBRMP. GBR Marine Park Management
2003	<i>Fisheries (Coral Reef Fin Fish) Management Plan 2003</i> implemented. Minimum size limit increased to 40 cm total length. Recreational in-possession limits reduced to a total of 9 nannygai (crimson and saddletail snapper combined).
July 2004	All commercial vessels must hold an RQ licence. RQ licence holders must hold appropriate line units (OS units) to take crimson snapper, which take the form of individual transferable quotas. The total yearly catch of Other Species available for allocation is 902.2 t.
Jul 2004	Representative Area Program (RAP), a comprehensive rezoning of whole GBR, introduced. Proportion of GBR closed to fishing increases from about 5% to 33%, protected through closed green zones within which extractive uses are restricted. <i>Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Zoning Plan 2003</i>
Oct 2004	Seasonal fishery closures commence across the GBR for nine days each around the new moon period in October, November and December each year. Fisheries (Coral Reef Fin Fish) Management Plan 2003 (Queensland)
Oct 2009	Seasonal fishery closures reduced to two 5-day closures in October and November. December closure removed. <i>Fisheries (Coral Reef Fin Fish) Management Plan 2003 (Queensland)</i>
Jul 2010	Management plan amended removing ability to appeal. OS Quota in fishery after all appeals heard is 1 064 405 units. Fisheries (Coral Reef Fin Fish) Management Plan 2003 (Queensland)

Table 1.1 – Continued from previous page

Continued on next page

Year	Management
Jul 2013	Department of Environment and Heritage surrender quota units. As a result 955 604 OS units remain. Fisheries (Coral Reef Fin Fish) Management Plan 2003 (Queensland)
Sep 2019	Fisheries (Coral Reef Fin Fish) Management Plan repealed. <i>Fisheries (General) Regulation 2019 (Queensland), Fisheries (Commercial Fisheries) Regulation 2019 (Queensland), Fisheries Declaration 2019 (Queensland)</i> and <i>Fisheries Quota Declaration 2019 (Queensland)</i> enacted.
2019	Line Fishery (Reef): The fishery symbols for the fishery are 'L1', 'L2', 'L3' and 'L8' provide access to fishing areas in Queensland while RQ quota provides access to fish and both are required. Fish may be taken only by using fishing lines. A person must not use more than 3 fishing lines at the same time. The total number of hooks or lures attached to the lines must not be more than 6 per person. A primary boat longer than 20 m must not be used. The permitted distance for an assistant fisher to be under direction of a commercial fisher is 5 nautical miles. A tender boat must not be used more than 5 nautical miles from its primary boat. This does not apply if the tender boat and its primary boat are located on the same reef. Vessel tracking required on all commercial primary vessels and tenders with an engine size greater than 3KW. <i>Fisheries (Commercial Fisheries) Regulation 2019 (Queensland)</i>
Sep 2020	'Primary' vessels to be up to 25 m long, 'tender' vessels to be up to 10 m long and the number of tenders that can operate in different fisheries clarified.Distance requirements for tenders and assistant fishers removed now that vessel tracking is required on all commercial fishing vessels.These matters are regulated under national marine safety legislation.

In 2021, the Queensland Department of Agriculture and Fisheries commissioned a stock assessment for crimson snapper off the east coast of Queensland in order to fulfill a requirement from the Wildlife Trade Organisation. This stock has not previously been assessed. This assessment aims to determine current spawning stock biomass relative to an unfished state, provide estimates of sustainable harvests to support Queensland's *Sustainable Fisheries Strategy 2017–2027* (Department of Agriculture and Fisheries 2017), and inform the Status of Australian Fish Stocks (SAFS) process.

2 Methods

2.1 Data sources

Data sources included in this assessment (Table 2.1) were used to determine catch rates, age and length compositions, and create annual harvests. Data sets were compiled by financial year¹ and all references to year should be assumed to be financial year. The assessment period began in 1958 up until and including 2021 based on available information.

Туре	Financial year	Source
Commercial harvest	1989–2021	Logbook data collected by Fisheries Queensland
Recreational harvest	2002, 2005	Recreational fishing surveys (RFish) conducted by Fisheries Queensland (Higgs et al. 2007; McInnes 2008)
	2011, 2014, 2020	Statewide Recreational Fishing Survey (SRFS) con- ducted by Fisheries Queensland) (Taylor et al. 2012; Webley et al. 2015; Teixeira et al. 2021)
	2001	Recreational fishing surveys conducted by the Aus- tralian Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (the National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey, NRIFS) (Henry et al. 2003)
	2017–2021	Boat ramp survey, conducted by Fisheries Queens- land, providing harvest information
	1958–2002	Australian historical population statistics (for the state of Queensland), conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, providing a proxy for fishing effort (ABS 2014)
Charter harvest	1989–2021	Logbook data collected by Fisheries Queensland
Indigenous harvest	2001	Indigenous fishing survey conducted by the Aus- tralian Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (the National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey, NRIFS) (Henry et al. 2003)
	2018–2021	Biological monitoring (sex, age and length from the commercial line fishery) undertaken by Fisheries Queensland (Fisheries Queensland 2012)
Biological data	2017–2019	Collaborative collection of regional demographic data (age, length and sex) sourced from both com- mercial and recreational fisheries (biological moni- toring as above undertaken by Fisheries Queens- land) and supplemented by additional recreational fishery catches as part of doctoral thesis at James Cook University
	2017–2021	Boat ramp survey, conducted by Fisheries Queens- land, providing length and discard information

Table 2.1: Data used in the Queensland east coast crimson snapper stock assessment

¹Financial year naming convention is to reference the calendar year during which the financial year ended, that is, FY 2021 is July 2020 to June 2021.

2.1.1 Commercial

Commercial harvests of crimson snapper were recorded in the Queensland logbook system. The logbook system consists of daily harvests (landed weight in kilograms) of all fish species or species groups from each individual fishing operator (license) since 1989. In addition to landed weight, logbooks also record the location of the catch (30 minute or 6 minute grid identifier), the number of boats (dories) that were fishing, and the number of crew.

2.1.2 Recreational

2.1.2.1 Recreational fishing surveys

All recreational surveys provided estimates of the number of fish kept and released per trip, and combined this with demographic information to estimate annual totals for each species (or species group) at national, state and regional scales. See the references listed in Table 2.1 for more detail.

Surveys conducted in 2001, 2011, 2014 and 2020 (financial years) had more effective follow-up contact procedures with diarists resulting in less dropout of participants compared to the other survey years using RFish methodology (Lawson 2015).

2.1.2.2 Boat ramp survey

Recreational data were collected by Fisheries Queensland in 18 different regions, extending from Cooktown to the Gold Coast. Staff trained in the survey protocol, and identifying fish, interviewed recreational fishers at boat ramps during a survey shift. The surveys recorded day and location fished, catch of key species (including discards) and length of retained key species (Fisheries Queensland 2017). The length data were used as input in the model, and discards were used to infer discard rates of crimson snapper for the recreational sector.

2.1.3 Charter

Charter harvests of crimson snapper were recorded in the Queensland logbook system. This provided the operator identifier, the date, the location fished, retained catch by species (including discards) and the number of guests on the trip.

2.1.4 Indigenous

The National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey in 2001 attempted to redress the lack of Indigenous fishing information on a national scale by involving Indigenous communities in the gathering of fisheries statistics. Estimates of total harvest and discard for Indigenous communities followed similar procedures to those in the recreational component of the survey (Henry et al. 2003).

2.1.5 Age and length compositions

Biological monitoring of sex, age and length information from the commercial and recreational sector has been undertaken by Fisheries Queensland. Information provided included: date of capture, region, fork length (cm), age class (number of birthdays a fish has had at date of capture, where the nominal birthday for crimson snapper is 1 October), age group (maximum age class the fish would attain during the sampling season, where the sampling season 1 July to 30 June) and sex of fish (male, female or unknown). The age-at-length relationship of recreationally caught fish were assumed to be of the same distribution per length class, as those from the commercial fishery, in each region sampled.

In addition, boat ramp surveys of recreational anglers contributed length frequency information for recreationally caught fish from 2017 to 2021.

2.2 Harvest estimates

Commercial, charter, recreational and Indigenous harvest data were analysed to reconstruct the history of harvest from 1958 until 2021. Prior to 1958 crimson snapper harvest is assumed to be negligible. This section describes how these data were combined to create the history of crimson snapper harvest (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Overview of the methods used to reconstruct history of crimson snapper harvest

Commercial harvest:

- 1989–2021: A baseline harvest of crimson snapper was set to the weight of whole crimson snapper (in kilograms, CAAB code 37346005) recorded against the line (LI) and mixed fishery (MF) codes in the CFISH logbooks.
- **1989–2009:** CFISH logbooks also contain an 'unspecified nannygai' label which is an ambiguous mixture of small mouth nannygai (crimson snapper) and large mouth nannygai (saddletail snapper). This was handled as follows:
 - Between 2009 and 2021 very small amounts of crimson and saddletail snapper harvest was recorded as unspecified—approximately 0.01% per year. As such, the proportion of crimson snapper reported in the logbooks (approximately 20% of the combined crimson and saddletail snapper harvest) was used as the estimated proportion of the 'unspecified nannygai' category in the proceeding years from 1989 to 2009 and added to the logbook records for crimson snapper in those years.
- 1958–1989: Harvest was linearly hindcast to 0 t in 1958.

Charter harvest:

- 1995–2021: A baseline harvest of crimson snapper was set to the number of whole crimson snapper (CAAB code 37346005) recorded the charter fishery (CV) code in the CFISH logbooks. Approximately 20% of the 'unspecified nannygai' harvest was allocated to the crimson snapper harvest, using the method described for the commercial harvest.
- 1958–1994: Harvest was linearly hindcast to 0 t in 1958.
- Measured in numbers of fish as opposed to weight.

Recreational harvest:

- **1958–2002:** Assumed zero in 1958 and increased proportionally to Queensland population growth through to reach a rescaled RFish estimate in 2002, where this rescaled estimate was calculated as the 2002 estimate divided by the NRIFS estimate for the year 2001.
- 2001, 2011, 2014, 2020: Set to equal the values reported in the NRIFS (2001) and SRFS (2011, 2014 and 2020) surveys.
- 2002, 2005: Set to the rescaled RFish estimates.
- 2021: Estimate for 2021 set to equal the value reported in the 2020 SRFS survey.
- 2003–2004, 2006–2010, 2012–2013 and 2016–2019: "Missing" records were set to values linearly interpolated between the estimates from the survey years listed above.
- Estimates for all years were converted from retained numbers of fish to harvested weight by the population model itself (they were entered into the model as numbers, not weights). This was done for scenarios which accounted for discards, and scenarios that did not.

Indigenous harvest:

- 2001: Equalled the estimated number of fish harvested by Indigenous fishers from the NRIFS survey
- **1958–2000**, **2002–2021**: Equal to the estimate in 2001 as no other data are available.
- Added to the recreational and charter harvest for input to the population model.

2.3 Standardised index of abundance

Queensland logbook data on commercial catches of crimson snapper (kg whole weight) per fishingday were used as an index of legal-sized fish abundance. The index was standardised to remove the influence of a number of factors not related to abundance. This section outlines the standardisation procedure.

From the initial logbook data set, including all coral reef logbook records:

- 1. The data set was restricted to east coast, line fishery records where the number of crew was recorded and the catch was reported for a single date per day.
- 2. In the situation where multiple locations were fished on a single day, the catch was summed over all records, and the location was set to the location where the greatest amount of catch was taken.
- 3. The data set excluded all records outside of the L1 fishery (Figure 2.2).
- 4. The data set was restricted to records associated with fishers that had (a) at least two years of catch history and (b) were in the subset of fishers that accounted for 99% of the total crimson snapper catch when ordered by contribution (in total whole weight).

- 5. The data set was restricted to records where kilograms of crimson snapper caught was greater than zero.
- 6. The data from 2005 to 2007 were omitted due to small sample size (< 100 records per year).



Figure 2.2: Map of regions used for catch rate analysis

The statistical model used was a linear model with the response being a log-transform of the crimson snapper catch. The analysis was carried out using the software R (version 4.0.5, R Core Team (2020)).

The form of the model was:

 $log(Crimson) \sim Year * Region + Year : Month + Region : Month + Month + Fisher + Crew + CTRTE + OS$ (2.1)

where the variables considered were:

- Crimson: daily harvest of crimson snapper (kilograms)
- Year: financial year (factor)
- Month: financial month (factor)
- *Region*: spatial region, aggregated into broader regions 'Region A', 'Region B', 'Region C' and 'Region D' from Fishery Monitoring regions (Figure 2.2; factor)
- Fisher: fisher license identifier (authority chain number, factor)
- Crew: how many crew were recorded (factor)
- CTRTE: harvest of coral trout and redthroat emperor (kilograms)
- OS: harvest of coral reef 'other species' (excluding crimson snapper, see list in Appendix E; kilograms)

While spatial regions were used to structure and standardise the catch rate analysis, ultimately a single catch rate for the whole fishery was produced. Regional catch rate contributions to the unified final catch

rate was handled through a sample-size based (sometimes referred to as 'natural') weighting procedure that ensured sub-regional catch rate uncertainty was propagated into unified catch-rate uncertainty.

Targeting is the term used to refer to the fact that effort was made to target a specific species of fish, as opposed to it being caught incidentally. Co-caught species variables ('OS' and 'CTRTE') were included following project team discussions on the complex nature of targeting of crimson snapper in the Reef Line Fishery.

2.4 Discards and discard mortality

For many species, greater than half of the fish caught by recreational anglers are released (McLeay et al. 2002). Generally these released fish are under the MLS which, for crimson snapper, is 40 cm total length (TL) for the recreational and commercial fisheries. Following Jones et al. (1988) it was hypothesized that a large proportion of discarded fish are undersized and from inshore waters, the typical focus of smaller recreational boats. Larger recreational and commercial vessels typically fish further offshore in deeper waters where the chance of encountering individuals above the MLS is higher, so there will be less discarding due to the MLS. Lower rates of survival for larger fish in deeper water seems logical, however. This is important as these fish can additionally be released when above the MLS, due to being unwanted (low quality) by some fishers, so they are consequently exposed to increased post-release mortality from barotrauma. Boat ramp survey data confirmed that a significant fraction of the recreational crimson catch was released, and it was therefore important to model discarding explicitly for the recreational-charter-Indigenous fleet. Commercial discarding however is uncommon due to the absence of a bag limit and the offshore focus of commercial fishers (T Roberts 2020, pers. comm.) and so for the commercial fleet discarding was assumed negligible.

In order to model discards optimally, the model requires information on the total quantity of discards and their size distribution. As size information was only available for retained fish, the following procedure was used to generate a synthetic released recreational length distribution for input to the model.

- 1. Fish under 20 cm total length were excluded from the discard selectivity curve.
- 2. An expert elicitation (Morgan 2014) strategy was then devised whereby an R Shiny (Chang et al. 2020) application was constructed to prompt two members of the project team with relevant expertise to set values for the following three parameters:
 - (a) The proportion of discards that are under the MLS (α)
 - (b) The curvature of selectivity between 20 cm and the 40 cm (β_1)
 - (c) The degree of 'elbow' in undersized selectivity (β_2)

An average of the two expert's chosen values resulted in a value of 80% for α and an undersized selectivity curve (Figure 2.3).

- 3. The length distribution of retained recreational crimson snapper was formed from boat ramp survey records, with the total number of fish released on each trip appended to the length records for that trip.
- 4. The distribution of legal-sized released fish was generated from this data set by sub-sampling the fraction equal to 1α (the proportion that are not undersized).
- 5. The distribution of undersized released fish was generated by sampling from a beta distribution with domain 20–40 cm and parameters (β_1 , β_2) such that the total number of samples generated was the total number released (from the boat ramp survey estimates of this quantity) minus the fraction already allocated to the legal size component of the distribution. Total numbers of discards from the recreational sector were input to the reconstruction. The pattern of discarding between

2017 and 2020 from the boat ramp survey data were scaled to meet the absolute number discarded from the 2019 Statewide Recreational Fishing Survey in 2020.

The resulting released size distribution data sets can be seen in Appendix B.2.



Figure 2.3: Selectivity curve for discarded crimson snapper under minimum legal size

Discard mortality was set at 58% (i.e. 42% survival), based on Brown et al. (2008) and feedback from the project team. This feedback took into account the following factors:

- the best (84%) and worst (10%) survival rates from Brown et al. (2008)
- that there were few discards above the MLS for all sectors
- that Brown et al. (2008) studied predominantly under-sized individuals from shallow waters.

2.5 Biological relationships

2.5.1 Fork length and total length

All length measurements were provided in fork length (FL) and the population model was run using FL. For expert elicitation and MLS we required a conversion to total length. The following conversions were applied where necessary (McPherson et al. 1992a):

$$TL_{mm} = 1.05 \times FL_{mm} - 0.06,$$

$$FL_{mm} = 0.95 \times TL_{mm} + 0.06$$

where TL_{mm} is total length (mm) and FL_{mm} is fork length (mm).

2.5.2 Fecundity and maturity

Maturity values in the model were length-based, following a logistic function fit to data extracted from Figure 6 of McPherson et al. (1992a) and reproduced in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Maturity curve input into the model as extracted from Figure 6 of McPherson et al. (1992a)

No information was available on the fecundity for crimson snapper. For this assessment the number of eggs produced by a female crimson snapper was set to the total weight of mature females. Minimum observed length at first maturity is 50 cm FL for crimson snapper (McPherson et al. 1992a). To convert this to age of first maturity, fish of 50 cm were averaged by age from data herein. This led to a minimum age of first maturity at 4.5 years for crimson snapper.

2.5.3 Weight and length

The weight-length relationship was taken from McPherson et al. (1992b):

$$W_{kg} = \exp(-10.62 + 2.87 \times \log(FL_{cm}))$$

where W_{kg} is weight (kg) and FL_{cm} is fork length (cm).

2.6 Length and age data

Length data were input to the population model in two-centimetre length bins. Age data were input as conditional age-at-length samples.

2.7 Population model

A population model was fitted to the data to determine the number of crimson snapper in each year and each age group using the software package Stock Synthesis (SS; version 3.30.17.01). A full technical description of SS is given in Methot et al. (2020).

The model used three fleets: two for the commercial sector (for before and after the rezoning of the GBRMP), and one for the recreational, Indigenous and charter sectors combined. Ideally the charter sector would have been modelled as its own fleet, however limitations in length data meant that an additional selectivity curve could not be estimated.

Sex-specific biological monitoring data (from the commercial sector) were limited, so the population model was set up as a one-sex model. Differences in growth of males and females were investigated using 95% bivariate data ellipses of bootstrapped K (growth rate) and L_{inf} (mean maximum asymptotic

size) estimates. Differences were assessed by the degree of ellipse overlap (Section A.4.3). Females reached significantly larger sizes (L_{inf}) than males, however when a shared sex growth model was fit, this was not significantly different to either the separate male or female von Bertalanffy growth functions. Ideally, separate growth curves for males and females would be preferred, however this was not possible with the current data. The large number of records of fish with undetermined sex limited the creation of sex-specific age-length keys.

2.7.1 Model assumptions

The main assumptions underlying the model are that:

- The Queensland east coast stock is reproductively isolated from all other stocks (Elliott 1996; Salini et al. 2006).
- The fishery began from an unfished state in 1958.
- The fraction of fish that are female at birth is 50% and remains so throughout an individual's life.
- Growth occurs according to the von Bertalanffy growth curve.
- The weight and fecundity of crimson snapper are parametric functions of their size.
- The first mature age is 4.5 years, after which the proportion of mature fish depends on size.
- The instantaneous natural mortality rate does not depend on size, age, year or sex.
- Deterministic annual recruitment is a Beverton-Holt function of stock size.
- Regarding spatial mixing, either:
 - Fish swim freely and mix rapidly across the entire area, so that the different fleets compete for the same fish rather than targeting different sub-populations. This corresponds to the 'Continuous' catch rates scenario under the Rezoning sensitivity test (Section 2.7.4), or
 - there is limited spatial movement so that blue zone and green zone populations will have diverged after July 2004 (GBRMP rezone). This corresponds to the 'Split' catch rates scenario under the 'Rezoning' sensitivity test (Section 2.7.4).

2.7.2 Model parameters

A variety of parameters were included in the model, with some of these fixed at specified values and others estimated.

Unfished recruitment (logarithmic scale, SR_LN(R0)) was estimated within the model.

Beverton-Holt stock recruitment steepness (SR_BH_steep) was estimated using a strongly informative lognormal prior. In the base case, the (natural scale) median of the prior was 0.70, based on the metaanalysis by Thorson (2020). The standard deviation was tight at 0.08. Lower and higher values for the median of the prior were chosen in the sensitivity analysis (details in Section 2.7.4).

Parameters of the von Bertalanffy growth curve (L_at_Amin, L_at_Amax, VonBert_K) were estimated within the model, including coefficients of variation for both young and old fish (CV_young, CV_old).

Natural mortality (NatM) was estimated in the model, with a lognormal prior. This prior had a (natural scale) median value of 0.154 and standard deviation of 0.2. This prior was based on the meta-analytical approach from Hamel (2015) and Then et al. (2015). The prior is defined as a log-normal distribution with a median value (corresponding to the mean in log-space) equal to $5.40/A_{max}$ and log-scale standard deviation equal to 0.2. The maximum age across all samples is 35 years, giving 5.4/35 = 0.154.

Logistic length-based selectivity parameters were estimated in the model for both fleets (Size_inflection_ Commercial, Size_95%width_Commercial, Size_inflection_Recreational, and Size_95%width_Recreational). Separate selectivity curves were estimated for the commercial fleet and the recreational-charter-Indigenous fleet. The base case involved a partitioning of the commercial catch rate around the time of the GBRMP Representative Areas Program rezoning (July 2004). This split the commercial sector into two fleets. In these scenarios, selectivity parameters were still estimated for two fleets (pre-rezoning commercial and recreational) with the selectivity for commercial post-rezoning set up to mirror the selectivity for commercial pre-rezoning.

All scenarios involved catchability being calculated rather than estimated. Catchability was calculated for each fleet that had an associated index of abundance.

Recruitment deviations between 1982 and 2021 improved fits to composition data and abundance indices as variability in recruitment annually allowed for changes in the population on shorter time-scales than fishing mortality alone.

2.7.3 Model weightings

A Francis adjustment (Francis 2011) was applied to all the age and length compositions fits, to attempt to achieve a suitable effective sample size (and thus relative weighting).

2.7.4 Sensitivity tests

Several additional model runs were undertaken to determine sensitivity to fixed parameters, assumptions and model inputs. The sensitivities, and notations used to denote variations, were as follows:

- **Rezoning:** Catch rates either split into two separate time series for before (through to 2004) and after (2008–2021) GBRMP rezoning, or modelled as one continuous time series
 - "Continuous": Catch rates modelled as one continuous time series
 - "Split": Catch rates split into two separate time series for before and after GBRMP rezoning
- Steepness: Natural-scale median of the steepness prior altered based on study by Thorson (2020)
 - "Mid": 0.70
 - "High": 0.80
 - "Low": 0.60
- **Discards:** Discarding for the recreational sector modelled as described in Section 2.4, or a 'shortcut' applied where the input catches are increased to match the total number retained and discarded and it is assumed that all discarded fish follow the same selectivity curve as those retained
 - "Base": Discarding modelled
 - "Alt": Discarding short-cut
- · Recruitment deviations: Recruitment deviations applied over a long or short time scale
 - "Full": Recruitment deviations applied from 1982-2021
 - "Short": Recruitment deviations applied from 1982-2015
- **Recreational harvest:** Recreational harvest at 100%, 80% or 120% of total as described in Section 2.2; thresholds were determined using confidence intervals of survey results
 - "Base": 100% of recreational harvest
 - "High": 120% of recreational harvest
 - "Low": 80% of recreational harvest

Fourteen combinations of these sensitivities were tested, as outlined in Table 2.2. Scenario 1 was selected by the project team as the base case scenario.

Scenario	Rezoning	Steepness	Discards	Recruitment deviations	Recreational harvest
1 (Base case)	Split	0.7	In model	Full	Base
2	Split	0.7	In model	Full	High
3	Split	0.7	In model	Full	Low
4	Split	0.7	In model	Short	Base
5	Split	0.7	Out of model	Full	Base
6	Split	0.6	In model	Full	Base
7	Split	0.8	In model	Full	Base
8	Continuous	0.7	In model	Full	Base
9	Continuous	0.7	In model	Full	High
10	Continuous	0.7	In model	Full	Low
11	Continuous	0.7	In model	Short	Base
12	Continuous	0.7	Out of model	Full	Base
13	Continuous	0.6	In model	Full	Base
14	Continuous	0.8	In model	Full	Base

Table 2.2: Scenarios tested to determine sensitivity to parameters, assumptions and model inputs

2.7.5 Harvest control rule

Stock Synthesis's forecast sub-model was used to provide forward projections of spawning biomass and future harvest targets, following a harvest control rule (Fisheries Queensland 2021). This rule has a linear ramp in fishing mortality between 20% spawning biomass, where fishing mortality is set at zero, and a target spawning biomass, where fishing mortality is set at the equilibrium level that achieves the target spawning biomass (F_{Btarg}). Below 20% spawning biomass fishing mortality remains set at zero, and above the target spawning biomass fishing mortality remains set at zero,

Crimson snapper is currently classified as a secondary species in a multi-species fishery, so two harvest control rule scenarios have been applied:

- a 20:60:60 control rule, in which the spawning biomass target is set to 60%, as per the current reef line harvest strategy objective, and
- a 20:40:40 control rule, in which the spawning biomass target is set to 40%, as a proxy for the biomass at maximum sustainable harvest.



Figure 2.5: The 20:60:60 and 20:40:40 harvest control rules—note that F_{targ} for B_{40} is not the same as F_{targ} for B_{60} (i.e. vertical axis scale is not consistent between harvest control rules)

3 Results

These model inputs and outputs relate to Scenario 1—the 'base case' (defined in Table 2.2). Results for all other scenarios can be found in Appendix C and Appendix D.

3.1 Model inputs

Figure 3.1 summarises the assembled data sets input to the model.



Figure 3.1: Data presence by year for each category of data type and Stock Synthesis fleet Note: Stock Synthesis uses the term 'fleet' to distinguish data sets (and model processes) associated with different selectivity curves (proportions of fish at different lengths vulnerable to the fishing gear). This assessment generally involves two fleets: one for the commercial sector and one for all other sectors combined. In some scenarios (including the base case) the commercial fleet has been split into 'pre' and 'post' rezoning of the GBRMP. This plot shows data presence by year for each fleet, where circle area is relative within a data type. Circle areas are proportional to total harvest for harvests; to precision for indices and discards; and to total sample size for compositions. Note that since the circles are scaled relative to maximums within each data type, the scaling within separate plots should not be compared.

3.1.1 Harvest estimates

Total harvest (landed catch) combined harvest from commercial, recreational, charter and Indigenous sectors is shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Annual estimated harvest (retained catch) from commercial, recreational, charter and Indigenous sectors between 1958 and 2021 for crimson snapper—the latter three sectors were modelled as a single fleet

3.1.2 Standardised index of abundance

Both the 1997–2004 and 2008–2021 time series of annual standardised commercial catch rates declined on average (Figure 3.3). There was greater uncertainty in early years of 1997–2004 time series.



Figure 3.3: Annual standardised catch rates (95% confidence intervals) for commercial line caught crimson snapper between the years of 1997 and 2021

3.1.3 Age composition

Fishery age composition data were input to the population model, as part of age-at-length compositions. For visualisation purposes, the age composition is shown in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Annual age compositions of crimson snapper for line caught fish between 2018 and 2021

3.1.4 Length composition

Fishery length compositions were input to the population model for the commercial fleet (Figure 3.5) and the recreational fleet (Figure 3.6). Discarded recreational length compositions were generated by the method described in Section 2.4.



Figure 3.5: Annual length compositions of crimson snapper for commercial line caught fish between 2018 and 2021



Figure 3.6: Estimated annual length compositions of crimson snapper for recreational line caught-and-discarded and caught-and-retained fish between 2017 and 2021

3.1.5 Discards

In addition to the discarded length composition data (above), total numbers of discards from the recreational sector were input to the model. The pattern of discarding between 2017 and 2020 from the boat ramp survey data was scaled to meet the absolute number discarded from the 2019 Statewide Recreational Fishing Survey in 2020. The total number of fish discarded for the recreational-charter-Indigenous fleet, input to the model are summarised in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1: Estimated number of discards by the recreational-charter-Indigenous fleet

Year	Number of discards
2017	20 056
2018	22 714
2019	23 739
2020	17 711
2021	12 358

3.2 Model outputs

3.2.1 Model parameters

Several parameters were estimated within the base case model (Table 3.2). The full list of estimated parameters for the base and sensitivity runs is given in Appendix B.1, Table B.1. Boxplots that show the variation in parameter estimates across all sensitivity runs are given in Appendix C, Figure C.1.

Table 3.2: Summary of parameter estimates for crimson snapper from the base population model

Parameter	Estimate	Standard deviation
Natural mortality	0.14	0.02
Length at age 1	33.9	0.5
Length at age 35	61.63	1.09
von Bertalanffy growth parameter	0.14	0.01
Coefficient of variation in length at age 1	0.12	0.01
Coefficient of variation in length at age 35	0.12	0.01
Beverton-Holt unfished recruitment (logarithm of the number of recruits in 1958)	11.69	0.23
Beverton-Holt steepness	0.7	0.06
Commercial selectivity inflection (cm)	51	1.51
Commercial selectivity width (cm)	11.29	1.39
Recreational selectivity inflection (cm)	26.24	0.44
Recreational selectivity width (cm)	3.57	0.53

All fourteen scenarios described in Section 2.7.4 had parameters that were estimated cleanly (none were near their bounds), and final parameter gradients were small, implying no convergence problems.

In Scenarios 5 and 12, discards were calculated outside of the Stock Synthesis modelling framework. In these scenarios, estimates for the von Bertalanffy growth parameters and selectivity curve parameters differed from the other scenarios (Figure C.1).

For all other scenarios, there was little difference between parameter estimates.

3.2.2 Model fits

Good fits were achieved for all data sets, including abundance indices, length compositions, age compositions and conditional age-at-length compositions (Appendix B.2). Reasonable fits were obtained for all data sets with the exception of the total discard amount (Appendix B.2).

3.2.3 Selectivity

Selectivity of crimson snapper was estimated within the model. The recreational and commercial fleets had significantly different selectivity (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: Model estimated length-based selectivity for crimson snapper by fleet in 2021

3.2.4 Growth curve

The von Bertalanffy growth curve, including coefficients of variation of old and young fish, was estimated within the model (Table 3.2, Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: Model estimated growth curve for crimson snapper in 2021

3.2.5 Biomass

The base case model predicted spawning stock biomass declined between 1958 and 2019 to 35% unfished spawning biomass. In 2022¹, the stock level was estimated to be 44% unfished spawning biomass (Figure 3.9). Relative spawning biomass trajectories for all sensitivity scenarios are presented in Figure 3.10.



Figure 3.9: Predicted spawning biomass trajectory relative to virgin for crimson snapper with 95% confidence intervals (dotted lines) and the range of scenarios (grey) from 1958 to 2021



Figure 3.10: Predicted spawning biomass trajectory relative to virgin for crimson snapper, from 1958 to 2021, for all scenarios (as described in Section 2.7.4) with the base case highlighted in black—'Split catch rates' refers to scenarios in which GBRMP rezoning was modelled using separate fleets

¹Stock Synthesis reports spawning stock biomass at the beginning of each year, so following this convention the spawning stock biomass estimate is reported for the year after the input data end. In this case, the model inputs end at 2021, so spawning stock biomass for 2022 is reported.

The relationship between the spawning biomass estimate and fishing mortality are presented in a phase plot (Appendix B.3.1, Figure B.7). The equilibrium harvest informs on the productivity of the stock at different spawning biomass levels (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.11: Equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper

3.2.6 Harvest targets

Harvest targets have been calculated to maintain spawning biomass at the two target reference points for the base model—60% spawning biomass and 40% spawning biomass (as a proxy for maximum sustainable harvest, MSH)—resulting in recommended biological harvests (RBH) of 16 t and 51 t respectively for 2022. These RBHs are the first in a schedule of projected recommended harvests following a 20:60:60 or 20:40:40 harvest control rule. The schedules are presented here for the base case in Table 3.3. Note that these RBH values have not had an uncertainty discount factor applied. For discounted harvest values see Section 4.3.2.
Table 3.3: Estimated total harvests and spawning biomass ratios of crimson snapper for the base case to rebuild and maintain the stock at the target reference point of 60% unfished spawning biomass or 40% unfished spawning biomass, following a 20:60:60 or 20:40:40 control rule respectively

	20:60:60 control rule		20:40:40 control rule			
Year	Harvest (t)	Spawning biomass ratio	Harvest (t)	Spawning biomass ratio		
2022	16	0.44	51	0.44		
2023	19	0.46	51	0.44		
2024	23	0.5	51	0.45		
2025	26	0.53	51	0.46		
2026	28	0.55	51	0.46		
2027	30	0.56	50	0.46		
2028	31	0.58	50	0.45		
2029	32	0.58	50	0.45		
2030	32	0.59	49	0.45		
2031	33	0.59	49	0.44		
2032	33	0.59	48	0.44		
2033	33	0.6	48	0.43		
2034	33	0.6	48	0.43		
2035	33	0.6	47	0.43		
2036	33	0.6	47	0.42		
2037	34	0.6	47	0.42		
2038	34	0.6	47	0.42		
2039	34	0.6	47	0.42		
2040	34	0.6	46	0.41		
2041	34	0.6	46	0.41		

4 Discussion

The results above represent the first assessment of the Queensland east coast crimson snapper stock, which is a relatively data-poor species and historically part of a species complex including saddletail snapper. The results should be viewed considering this understanding. The base case results discussed below should also be considered in the context of stock status variation amongst the full suite of scenarios investigated.

Results from this assessment suggest the crimson snapper population on the Queensland east coast experienced a large decline in the period 1958–2019, followed by a short period of recovery.

The results suggest that catch levels have been in excess of those consistent with a 60% spawning biomass target (34 t) since 2003. The base case model suggests the current population level is around 44% of unfished spawning biomass.

4.1 Performance of the population model

The fourteen scenarios in Figure 3.10 all performed well. All parameters that were attempted to be estimated were estimated cleanly (none hit their bounds), final parameter gradients were small (likely a genuine optimal point was found), and reasonable fits were obtained for all data sets with the exception of the total discard amount.

All scenarios appeared to have a unimodal posterior, meaning each model consistently converged to its own single optimal point. A Markov chain Monte Carlo algorithm was run on the base case scenario, which supported this observation (Section B.4).

While fourteen scenarios performed well in the sense described above, they constitute a wide range of outcomes. A lot of this uncertainty stems directly from catch rate uncertainty and is not an artifact of population modelling compromises or otherwise poor population model performance.

Scenario 1 was chosen by the project team to be the base case (preferred) model, however other scenarios are also considered plausible. This is best understood by considering the following two key contributors to the overall uncertainty:

• Catch rates. One source of uncertainty arises from the GBRMP rezoning and the concurrent introduction of ITQs in 2004. This disruption impacted commercial logbook records over several years, which were unable to be analysed due to low sample sizes (2005–2007). Standardised catch rates from 2007 onward were lower in comparison to prior to 2004. While there are many possible reasons for this (e.g. changes in reporting behaviour), there is a lack of information on which to test hypotheses, and thus in general it is not possible to incorporate this issue directly into the standardisation. The GBRMP rezoning in 2004 reduced the spatial access of the fishing fleet. There is a possibility that, post-rezoning, the relative abundance density of crimson snapper may have diverged between blue and green zones, however the extent to which this will have occurred depends on the degree of spatial mixing of the stock. Because there is very limited information on the spatial mixing of crimson snapper (Platten et al. 2007), and no information on relative abundance of fish in green zones, it is important to consider implications under both scenarios (i.e. modelling catch rates as a 'Continuous' or 'Split' under the Rezoning sensitivity test as defined in

Section 2.7.4).

Under the scenario where there is significant spatial mixing (the 'Continuous' scenario), the catch rate standardisation should be used without modification. This is because, while from 2005 onward the analysis is drawing on data from a smaller spatial area, in terms of abundance *density*, the relevant metric for the catch rate on any given fishing trip, the index remains a valid indicator of overall (stock-wide) relative abundance.

Under the scenario where spatial mixing is somehow limited, the situation is more complex. In the absence of fishery independent indicators from green zones or any detailed understanding of movement, the approach used was to allow the population model to choose a different catchability for the two periods (pre- and post-rezone). In Stock Synthesis this was achieved through the introduction of a second fleet for the post-rezone commercial sector. Because selectivity was forced to be the same for both fleets (but still estimated), this is equivalent to deriving a catchability difference from the model's ability to fit the various data sets and then re-running the model with a single fleet that has the derived catchability difference factored into the single long-term catch rate. The 'model adjusted' standardised catch rate can be seen plotted against the original standardised catch rate in Figure A.1.

Under the hypothesis that spatial mixing is limited and that abundance density in green zones is higher post-rezone, the *direction* of the model-derived catchability difference makes sense: you would expect an unadjusted index to be biased downwards.

Ultimately the project team took the adjusted standardised catch rate scenario as the preferred base case because catch rates were considered to have been downwardly impacted by the GBRMP rezoning and introduction of ITQs in ways that were unlikely to be abundance-related. For example, the crimson snapper targeting of the commercial fishing sector may have been reduced after the rezone as the fishery moved to focus on live coral trout. This implies some degree of adjustment is required. The magnitude of the required adjustment should be the subject of future research.

Note that the population model has no spatial structure: i.e. under both of the continuous and split scenarios the index of abundance is of the entire stock, and that in the split scenario an adjustment has been made to account for non-abundance related declines.

Additional sources of catch rate uncertainty for this species relate to targeting and fishing power, for the same reasons as saddletail snapper. See Campbell et al. (2021) for more on these aspects.

Recreational harvest and discarding. A significant component of the harvest is taken by the
recreational sector, however the full extent is subject to considerable uncertainty. This is of concern when coupled with uncertainty around the length structure of recreational discards and postrelease survival. Significant effort was put into reconstructing plausible length frequency data
for legal-sized and discarded recreational fish. While this was judged preferable to the alternative (increasing the recreational harvest by a presumed dead-discard amount and assuming both
mortality components are equally size-distributed) it remains a key source of uncertainty. Both
methods of modelling discards (either explicitly modelled in Stock Synthesis, or accounted for in
the harvest reconstruction) resulted in similar indicators of stock status.

4.2 Unmodelled influences

There are a number of possible drivers of the crimson snapper population that have not been directly modelled, but which should be taken into consideration when interpreting model outputs and considering future management arrangements. These include environmental impact of climate changes, potential regional variation in population demography, depredation, fishing power, GBRMP rezoning and previous management arrangement changes, as discussed below.

- Climate change. Crimson snapper are not solely reef-associated, nor known to be dependent on live coral cover. Thus, they may not be considered as directly vulnerable to coral bleaching and other forms of climate-induced coral reef degradation as, for example, coral trout. Nevertheless climate impacts on the GBR are a significant concern. Loss of coral habitat and complexity has been found to result in reductions in fisheries productivity (Rogers et al. 2017), and since 2014 there have been two mass bleaching events, one severe tropical cyclone, and two crown-of-thorns outbreaks on the GBR (Australian Institute of Marine Science 2021). For example, it is possible that changes in environmental conditions could affect recruitment, growth, reproduction, or mortality rates of crimson snapper. While the precise mechanisms by which climate change may impact crimson snapper remain unclear, and any impacts to date remain unquantified, this may be an additional source of uncertainty that would need to be quantified at a later date and cannot be taken into account at this time.
- **Regional variation in demography.** Regional variations in demography have been reported on the GBR for coral trout (Bergenius 2007; Carter et al. 2014; Carter et al. 2017) and redthroat emperor (Williams 2003; Williams et al. 2006). At the time of this assessment no data were available to determine if regional variation exists for crimson snapper. Preliminary studies indicate that there are no significant differences in growth rates of crimson snapper between sampling regions (DAF, unpublished data). If regional variation in age-based demographics are identified in future, they could be modelled in future assessments.
- Shark depredation. Shark depredation usually refers to the situation where a shark partially or completely consumes an animal caught by fishing gear before it can be retrieved to the fishing vessel, however it can also refer to 'post-release predation' where released fish are predated before they recover (Mitchell et al. 2018). While there are numerous anecdotal reports of sharks taking other species of fish whilst it's being landed, there are no quantitative data at this stage. As a result, neither form of depredation has been explicitly modelled. This only represents a limitation of the model if there have been significant fluctuations in the shark population or shark behaviour over time, or if there have been changes to release patterns through time. There is some depredation research currently being undertaken that may provide data for use in future assessments, however depredation mortality remains an unquantified uncertainty in this assessment.
- Fishing power. Fishing power over and above that incorporated through the current catch rate standardisation variables (year, month, region, fisher, number of crew, quantity of coral trout and red throat emperor caught, quantity of other species (see list in Appendix E) caught) has not been explicitly modelled. Recent significant changes to high definition sounders, anchor lock electric motors, availability of 'wonky hole' fishing training courses, information sharing on social media platforms and significantly advances bathymetry mapping and on-board computer storage capabilities needs to be quantified within fishing power considerations and included in future assessments.
- **GBRMP zoning and ITQ management shift.** The impact of the DAF fishery management arrangements and GBRMP rezoning in 2004 has been handled through hypotheses on catch rates.

See Table 2.2 and scenarios with 'Split' or 'Continuous' in the 'Rezoning' column, and a more detailed explanation in Section 4.1. As discussed, a better understanding of fleet fishing behaviour and targeting changes requires more work to better inform the catch rate analysis, other model inputs and interpretation of model outputs.

4.3 Recommendations

4.3.1 Research and monitoring

Research and monitoring recommendations for crimson snapper focus on prioritising reduction in model uncertainty:

- Length and age monitoring. The biological age and length monitoring data are crucial and without them the assessment would not have been possible. Each additional year of samples from the fishery monitoring program under the same survey design parameters should reduce the overall stock status uncertainty. Recreational relative catch rate indices derived from the boat ramp survey data would also be helpful in reducing uncertainty.
- **Stock structure.** Research on the biological stock structure of crimson snapper is limited. There is a need for updated information on stock structure and connectivity throughout Queensland waters.
- Fishery targeting behaviour. A survey of commercial and recreational fishers may provide additional information on shifting targeting behaviour that could help interpret model outputs, inform the magnitude of the required adjustment of post-rezone catch rates or even provide additional inputs that may reduce model uncertainty.
- Fishery independent surveys. As discussed in Section 4.1 there is a lack of information on abundance of crimson snapper in green zones following the rezoning in 2004. The Great Barrier Reef Foundation's 'Integrated Monitoring and Reporting' project intends to expand and/or initiate monitoring for many species, including *Lutjanus erythropterus*, across blue and green zones (Great Barrier Reef Foundation 2019). This may prove useful for estimating the magnitude of post-rezone abundance density divergence, in addition to providing fishery independent metrics.
- **Discards.** Additional information on the size distribution of discards would inform the way fishing mortality affects different cohorts.
- **Fishing power.** Past studies on fishing power (O'Neill et al. 2007) should be updated to include new technologies, training and information sharing on standardised catch rates of Reef OS species for future assessments.
- **Harvest weights.** Accurate harvest weights (using calibrated scales) for each reef-line trip would significantly improve data for future assessments. The potential for this has been improved with the new reporting requirements introduced in September 2021.
- **Mortality estimates.** Improved estimates and quantification of other sources of mortality such as that potentially from depredation or post-release mortality will reduce assessment uncertainty.
- Environmental influences. Determine any potential impacts of changing environmental conditions such as increasing sea surface temperature, or other potential impact on population parameters.
- **Reproduction.** Another key model input is the relationship between size or age of fecundity. A study by Fry et al. (2009) reported fecundity by length, with no clear relationship. Future studies investigating fecundity by age may alleviate this uncertainty.

4.3.2 Management

Currently crimson snapper is a secondary (non-target) species in the reef line fishery, managed through an ITQ as part of the OS quota group. To provide options for management now that there is a crimson snapper biomass estimate, harvest control rules for B_{60} and B_{40} (a proxy for B_{MSH}) targets have been generated (Table 4.1).

The harvest consistent with a spawning biomass ratio of 60%, the reef line harvest strategy objective for species with a published stock assessment, was estimated at 34 t (24–36 t range across scenarios; all sectors). The recommended harvest in the 2022 financial year is 16 t (0–16 t range across scenarios) in order to achieve this target by 2031.

For secondary species in a multi-species fishery, the Queensland harvest strategy policy requires a minimum objective of maximum sustainable harvest. The harvest consistent with a spawning biomass ratio of 40%, a proxy for biomass at maximum sustainable harvest, was estimated at 45 t (32–48 t range across scenarios; all sectors). The recommended harvest in the 2022 financial year is 51 t (0–54 t range across scenarios) in order to achieve this target by approximately 2041. B_{40} is often considered a more reliable target than B_{MSH} itself due to its sensitivity to the steepness and natural mortality parameters.

Parameter	Estimate		
Current (2021) spawning biomass (relative to unfished)	44% (21–45%)		
Biomass at maximum sustainable harvest	26% (26–30%)		
Current (2021) harvest	30.2 t		
Commercial	12.5 t		
Recreational + Charter + Indigenous	17.7 t		
Sustainable harvest at spawning $B_{60\%}$	34 t (24–36 t)		
Sustainable harvest at spawning $B_{40\%}$	45 t (32–48 t)		
Maximum sustainable harvest	48 t (34–52 t)		
Proposed harvest (2022) to achieve $B_{60\%}$ target	16 t (0–16 t)		
Proposed harvest (2022) to achieve $B_{40\%}$ target	51 t (0–54 t)		
Time to reach target	10 years (9–20+ years)		

Table 4.1: Current and target indicators, including B₆₀

Additional factors to consider when applying the results of this stock assessment to the management process include:

- Uncertainty. The base case scenario estimated the 2021 east coast crimson snapper stock to be 44% of unfished spawning biomass. Note that this estimate is across the full spatial extent of the stock, not just for the GBRMP zones that have been open to fishing since July 2004 (this point is made in more detail in Section 4.1). The full range of biomass estimates from model outputs (scenarios range from 21–45%) should be considered when applying this assessment in any management process. In particular there is uncertainty surrounding the relative adjustment (via the catchability coefficient) when modelling the catch rates before and after the GBRMP rezoning. No discount factor has been applied to the harvest control rule in this assessment.
- **Uncertainty discount factor.** The recommended discount factor for this assessment (Fisheries Queensland 2021) is 0.83 based on a qualitative tier assignment process and Ralston et al. (2011) (σ is 0.72, P^* (risk aversion) is 0.4). Applying this discount factor, the recommended biological

harvest results in a discounted 2022 harvest of 13.3 t and 42.3 t for the 20:60:60 or 20:40:40 harvest control rules, respectively.

- Recreational and charter management arrangements. The recreational and charter sectors are a significant contributor to overall crimson snapper fishing mortality and this should be taken into account when considering any management changes. Over the last five financial years, the relative contributions of the commercial, recreational, charter and Indigenous sectors to total harvest were 34%, 33%, 17% and 16%, respectively.
- Size limit. With approximately 50% of crimson snapper mature around 49 cm (FL) (Figure A.3), an increase in the MLS should be considered. This species exhibits relatively low levels of barotrauma-related mortality (16%) when compared to related tropical snappers (e.g. saddletail snapper at 50%) (Brown et al. 2008). As such, an increase in size limit and corresponding increase in released fish and with a level of post-release mortality is likely to provide an overall population benefit. This may be able to be quantified in a future assessment.

4.3.3 Assessment

Future assessments could be improved by:

- **Catch rates.** This is probably the single largest source of uncertainty and should be the primary focus of assessment improvement efforts. There are three main issues here: rezoning impacts, fishing power, and targeting. The impact of rezoning has been discussed already. Additional data may enable this to be modelled in more detail. This is also likely to be true for fishing power. Understanding ongoing shifts in targeting behaviour is difficult to define for Reef OS species. Methods proposed by Campbell et al. (2021) for saddletail snapper and by Mitchell et al. (in prep) for Spanish mackerel are also relevant for crimson snapper to incorporate fisher knowledge directly into catch rate analysis. This should be done in tandem with the use of Vessel Monitoring System data to obtain high resolution information necessary to disentangle the effects of abundance and non-abundance related impacts.
- **Discard mortality.** A key missing element is an understanding of the size-distribution of discards to better define discard mortality. The next assessment should consider additional sensitivity runs and alternative discard modelling setups to improve model fits.
- **Regional demography.** Finally, if more data are available on regionally varying demographics, these should be investigated, either for improved regional data set weighting or potentially for incorporating spatial structure in the population model itself.

A second assessment in two years time is recommended. This will incorporate updated base data sets and any additional data arising from the recommendations in Section 4.3.1.

4.4 Conclusions

This assessment was commissioned to establish the stock status of crimson snapper on Queensland's east coast and inform the Sustainable Fisheries Strategy. The base case model scenario suggested spawning biomass is currently around 44% of unfished levels. Some recommendations for management and a repeat assessment have been made.

References

- ABS (2014). Australian Historical Population Statistics. Tech. rep. Catalogue no. 3105.0.65.001. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics. URL: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/cat/ 3105.0.65.001.
- Allen, Gerald R (1985). "Snappers of the world: an annotated and illustrated catalogue of lutjanid species known to date". In: *FAO fisheries synopsis*. Vol. 6. 125. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Australian Institute of Marine Science (2021). Long-term Reef Monitoring Program Annual Summary Report on coral reef condition for 2020/21. Tech. rep. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Australian Government.
- Bergenius, Mikaela A. J. (2007). "Stock structure of a coral reef fish, *Plectropomus leopardus*: identification and implications for harvest strategy evaluation". PhD thesis. James Cook University.
- Brown, Ian W., Wayne D. Sumpton, Mark F. McLennan, David J. Welch, John M. Kirkwood, Adam R. Butcher, Amos Mapleston, David G. Mayer, Gavin A. Begg, Matthew D. Campbell, Ian Halliday, and W. Sawynok (2008). National Strategy for the Survival of Released Line-caught Fish: Tropical Reef Species. Final report of FRDC project 2003/019. Brisbane, Australia: Queensland Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries. URL: http://frdc.com.au/research/Documents/Final_reports/2003-019-DLD.pdf.
- Bürkner, P. C., J. Gabry, M. Kay, and A. Vehtari (2020). *posterior: Tools for Working with Posterior Distributions*. R package version 1.1.0. URL: https://mc-stan.org/posterior/.
- Campbell, Alexander B., A. R. Fox, K. B. Hillcoat, and L. Sumpter (2021). *Stock assessment of Queensland east coast saddletail snapper* (Lutjanus malabaricus), *Australia*. Tech. rep. Brisbane, Australia: Department of Agriculture and Fisheries. URL: https://era.daf.qld.gov.au/id/eprint/8225/.
- Carter, A. B., C. R. Davies, M. J. Emslie, B. D. Mapstone, G. R. Russ, A. J. Tobin, and A. J. Williams (2017). "Reproductive benefits of no-take marine reserves vary with region for an exploited coral reef fish". In: *Scientific reports* 7.1, pp. 1–12.
- Carter, Alex B., Campbell R. Davies, Bruce D. Mapstone, Garry R. Russ, Andrew J. Tobin, and Ashley J.
 Williams (2014). "Effects of region, demography, and protection from fishing on batch fecundity of common coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*)". In: *Coral Reefs* 33.3, pp. 751–763.
- Chang, Winston, Joe Cheng, JJ Allaire, Yihui Xie, and Jonathan McPherson (2020). *shiny: Web Application Framework for R.* R package version 1.5. URL: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=shiny.
- Commonwealth of Australia (2017). Shark mitigation and deterrent measures. Australian Senate, Environment and Communications References Committee Report. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia. URL: https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/ Environment_and_Communications/Sharkmitigation/~/media/Committees/ec_ctte/Sharkmitigation/ report.pdf.
- Department of Agriculture and Fisheries (2017). Queensland Sustainable Fisheries Strategy 2017-2027.
- Elliott, Nicholas G (1996). "Allozyme and mitochondrial DNA analysis of the tropical saddle-tail sea perch, Lutjanus malabaricus (Schneider), from Australian waters". In: *Marine and Freshwater Research* 47.7, pp. 869–876.
- Fisheries Queensland (2012). *Fishery Monitoring Sampling Protocol: Data Protocol (Section 2 Data Field Descriptions)*. Tech. rep. Brisbane, Australia: Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation.

- Fisheries Queensland (2017). *Fisheries Queensland Boat Ramp Survey Sampling Protocol: Section 2.* Tech. rep. Brisbane, Australia: Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation.
- (2020). Coral Reef Fin Fish Fishery (Line Fishery Reef) Status report for reassessment and approval under protected species and export provisions of the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999. Sustainable Fisheries Strategy 2017–2027. Tech. rep. Brisbane, Australia: Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation. URL: https://www.environment. gov.au/system/files/consultations/b6a43fdb-0fbf-47dc-92c0-7bb1fd7cceb1/files/linefishery-reef-wto-submission-july-2020.pdf.
- (2021). Draft Harvest Strategy Policy. Tech. rep. Brisbane, Australia: Department of Agriculture and Fisheries. URL: https://daf.engagementhub.com.au/draft-harveststrategy-policy.
- Fisheries Research and Development Corporation (2021). *How are the Status of Australian Fish Stocks Reports done?* URL: https://www.fish.gov.au/about/how-are-the-status-of-australianfish-stock-reports-done (visited on 11/10/2021).
- Francis, R. I. C. Chris (2011). "Data weighting in statistical fisheries stock assessment models". In: *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 68.6, pp. 1124–1138.
- Fry, Gary, David A Milton, Tonya Van Der Velde, Ilona Stobutzki, Retno Andamari, Bambang Sumiono, et al. (2009). "Reproductive dynamics and nursery habitat preferences of two commercially important Indo-Pacific red snappers Lutjanus erythropterus and L. ámalabaricus". In: *Fisheries Science* 75.1, pp. 145–158.
- Gelman, Andrew, John B Carlin, Hal S Stern, and Donald B Rubin (1995). *Bayesian data analysis*. Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Great Barrier Reef Foundation (2019). *Reef Trust Partnership: Annual Work Plan 2019–2020*. URL: https://www.barrierreef.org/uploads/RTP_Annual%5C%20Work%5C%20Plan%5C%202019-2020_FINAL.pdf.
- Hamel, O.S. (2015). "A method for calculating a meta-analytical prior for the natural mortality rate using multiple life history correlates". In: *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 72, pp. 62–69.
- Henry, Gary W. and Jeremy M. Lyle (2003). *The National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey*. Tech. rep. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry. URL: http://eprints.utas.edu.au/2526/1/Henry_Lyle_Nationalsurvey.pdf.
- Higgs, Jim, Len Olyott, and Kirrily McInnes (2007). *Experimental Results from the Third Statewide Recreational Fishing Information System Diary Program (2002)*. Tech. rep. Brisbane: Queensland Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries.
- Jones, Clive M and Kurt Derbyshire (1988). "Sampling the demersal fauna from a commercial penaeid prawn fishery off the central Queensland coast". In: *Memoirs of the Queensland Museum* 25.2, pp. 403–415.
- Kailola, P. J., M. J. Williams, P. C. Stewart, R. E. Reichelt, A. McNee, and C. Grieve (1993). "Australian Fisheries Resources". In: *Bureau of Resource Sciences and the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation*, p. 422.
- Lawson, Ashley (2015). An Investigative Analysis of Queensland's Statewide Recreational Fishing Surveys: Identifying Bias in Self-reported Catch and Effort Data. Tech. rep. Brisbane: Department of Agriculture and Fisheries.
- McInnes, Kirrily (2008). *Experimental Results from the Fourth Queensland Recreational Fishing Diary Program (2005)*. Tech. rep. Brisbane: Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries.
- McLeay, Lachlan J, Geoffrey Keith Jones, and Timothy Mark Ward (2002). *National strategy for the survival of released line-caught fish: a review of research and fishery information*. South Australian Research and Development Institute (Aquatic Sciences).

McPherson, G. R. and L. Squire (1992a). "Age and growth of three dominant *Lutjanus* species of the Great Barrier Reef inter-reef fishery". In: *Asian Fisheries Science* 5.1, pp. 25–36.

- McPherson, G. R., L. Squire, and J. O'Brien (1992b). "Reproduction of three dominant Lutjanus species of the Great Barrier Reef inter-reef fishery". In: *Asian Fisheries Science* 5.1, pp. 15–24.
- Methot, R. D., C. R. Wetzel, I. G. Taylor, and K. Doering (2020). Stock Synthesis *User Manual: Version* 3.30.15. NOAA Processed Report NMFS-NWFSC-PR-2020-05. U.S. Department of Commerce.
- Mitchell, J, S Williams, S Leahy, M McLennan, J Langstreth, A Campbell, and B Bassingthwaite (in prep). "Addressing uncertainties in the assessment and management of Qld East Coast Spanish mackerel". Expression of Interest for FRDC project.
- Mitchell, JD, DL McLean, SP Collin, and TJ Langlois (2018). "Shark depredation in commercial and recreational fisheries". In: *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 28.4, pp. 715–748.
- Morgan, M Granger (2014). "Use (and abuse) of expert elicitation in support of decision making for public policy". In: *Proceedings of the National academy of Sciences* 111.20, pp. 7176–7184.
- Newman, Stephen J (2002). "Growth rate, age determination, natural mortality and production potential of the scarlet seaperch, *Lutjanus malabaricus* Schneider 1801, off the Pilbara coast of north-western Australia". In: *Fisheries Research* 58.2, pp. 215–225.
- Newman, Stephen J., Michael Cappo, and David McB. Williams (2000). "Age, growth, mortality rates and corresponding yield estimates using otoliths of the tropical red snappers, *Lutjanus erythropterus*, *L. malabaricus* and *L. sebae*, from the central Great Barrier Reef". In: *Fisheries Research* 48.1, pp. 1– 14.
- O'Neill, Michael F. and George M. Leigh (2007). "Fishing power increases continue in Queensland's east coast trawl fishery, Australia". In: *Fisheries Research* 85.1–2, pp. 84–92.
- Platten, J. and B. Sawynok (2007). *Tagged fish recaptures, movement and growth: Tagging of key reef species in Central Queensland*. Infofish Services.
- Punt, André E, Anthony DM Smith, David C Smith, Geoffrey N Tuck, and Neil L Klaer (2014). "Selecting relative abundance proxies for B MSY and B MEY". In: *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 71.3, pp. 469–483.
- R Core Team (2020). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. Vienna. URL: http: //www.R-project.org/.
- Ralston, Stephen, André E Punt, Owen S Hamel, John D DeVore, and Ramon J Conser (2011). "A metaanalytic approach to quantifying scientific uncertainty in stock assessments." In: *Fishery Bulletin* 109.2.
- Rogers, Alice, Julia L. Blanchard, and Peter J. Mumby (2017). "Fisheries productivity under progressive coral reef degradation". In: *Journal of Applied Ecology* 55.3, pp. 1041–1049.
- Salini, John P., Jennifer R. Ovenden, Raewyn Street, R. Pendrey, Haryanti, and Ngurah (2006). "Genetic population structure of red snappers (Lutjanus malabaricus Bloch & Schneider, 1801 and Lutjanus erythropterus Bloch, 1790) in central and eastern Indonesia and northern Australia". In: *Journal of Fish Biology* 68.SB, pp. 217–234.
- Saunders, T., D. Barton, D. Crook, M. Hearnden, and S. Newman (2018). *Stock/Management unit division in the Northern Territory Offshore Snapper Fishery*. Unpublished Fishery Report.
- Taylor, Stephen, James Webley, and Kirrily McInnes (2012). 2010 Statewide Recreational Fishing Survey. Tech. rep. Brisbane: Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry. URL: http://era.daf.qld.gov.au/id/eprint/6926/2/2010%20SWRFS-Final%20V4.pdf.
- Teixeira, Daniella, Rachel Janes, and James Webley (2021). 2019/20 Statewide Recreational Fishing Survey Key Results. Project Report. Brisbane, Australia. URL: http://era.daf.qld.gov.au/id/ eprint/7879/.

- Then, Amy Y., John M. Hoenig, Norman G. Hall, and David A. Hewitt (2015). "Evaluating the predictive performance of empirical estimators of natural mortality rate using information on over 200 fish species". In: *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 72.1, pp. 82–92.
- Thorson, J. T. (2020). "Predicting recruitment density dependence and intrinsic growth rate for all fishes worldwide using a data-integrated life-history model". In: *Fish and Fisheries* 21.2, pp. 237–251.
- Vehtari, A., A. Gelman, D. Simpson, B. Carpenter, and P.C. Bürkner (2020). "Rank-normalization, folding, and localization: An improved Rhat for assessing convergence of MCMC". In: *Bayesian Analysis*.
- Webley, James A. C., Kirrily McInnes, Daniella Teixeira, Ashley Lawson, and Ross Quinn (2015). *Statewide Recreational Fishing Survey 2013–14*. Tech. rep. Brisbane, Australia: Department of Agriculture and Fisheries. URL: http://era.daf.qld.gov.au/id/eprint/6513/1/2013-14SRFS%20Report.pdf.
- Williams, AJ (2003). "Spatial patterns in population biology of a large coral reef fish: what role can movement play?" PhD thesis. James Cook University Townsville.
- Williams, AJ, CR Davies, and BD Mapstone (2006). "Regional patterns in reproductive biology of Lethrinus miniatus on the Great Barrier Reef". In: *Marine and Freshwater Research* 57.4, pp. 403–414.
- Williams, David McB. and Garry R. Russ (1994). Review of Data on Fishes of Commercial and Recreational Fishing Interest in the Great Barrier Reef. Tech. rep. Townsville, Australia: Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Research Publication No. 33, p. 103. URL: http://www.gbrmpa.gov.au/ __data/assets/pdf_file/0018/5535/Review-of-Data-on-Fishes-of-in-the-GBR-vol1-1994.pdf.

Appendix A Model inputs

A.1 Abundance indices

In Scenarios 1–7, the catch rates were input to the model as two independent time series (representing before and after the GBRMP rezoning in July 2004), and a constant catchability coefficient was calculated for each. For Scenarios 8–14, the catch rates were input as one fleet with one constant catchability coefficient calculated for the entire continuous time series. Figure A.1 shows each catch rate time series multiplied by its respective catchability coefficient (then normalised to one), to demonstrate the effective catch rates as imposed by calculated catchability coefficient and allow for comparison between scenarios. The implications of this effect are discussed in Section 4.1.



Figure A.1: Annual standardised catch rates multiplied by their calculated catchability coefficient and normalised to one, for commercial line caught crimson snapper between the years of 1997 and 2021

A.2 Age and length sample sizes

These sample sizes are input to the model and form a starting point for data set weighting.

Table A.1: Raw sample sizes measured and aged input to the model for crimson snapper

Year	Recreational length	Commercial length	Commercial age		
2017	305				
2018	224	1423	245		
2019	195	1158	366		
2020	137	283	254		
2021	73	397	289		

A.3 Conditional age-at-length

Conditional age-at-length composition data were input to the population model (Figure A.2).



Figure A.2: Conditional age-at-length compositions of crimson snapper between 2018 and 2021—circle size is proportional to relative sample size in each bin across rows (i.e. for a given length bin)

A.4 Biological data

A.4.1 Fecundity and maturity



Figure A.3: Maturity at length for crimson snapper



Figure A.4: Spawning output (maturity times fecundity) at age for crimson snapper



Fork length (cm)

Figure A.5: Spawning output (maturity times fecundity) at length for crimson snapper

A.4.2 Weight and length



Figure A.6: Weight-length relationship for crimson snapper



A.4.3 Differences in growth between sexes

Figure A.7: von Bertalanffy growth curves for male, female and combined crimson snapper in Lockhart and Cooktown regions—combined sexes were weighted to account for differences in male and female sample sizes



Figure A.8: 95% bivariate data ellipses of bootstrapped *K* (growth rate) and L_{inf} (mean maximum asymptotic size) estimates for male, female and combined crimson snapper in Lockhart and Cooktown regions—combined sexes were weighted to account for differences in male and female sample sizes

Appendix B Model outputs

B.1 Parameter estimates

Model parameters were estimated by Stock Synthesis, and parameter labels follow a Stock Synthesis specific naming convention (Table B.1).

Stock Synthesis Parameter Label	Explanation
NatM	Natural mortality
L_at_Amin	Length at age 1
L_at_Amax	Length at age 35
VonBert_K	von Bertalanffy growth parameter
CV₋young	Coefficient of variation in length at age 1
CV_old	Coefficient of variation in length at age 35
SR_LN(R0)	Beverton-Holt unfished recruitment (logarithm of the number of recruits in 1958)
SR_BH_steep	Beverton-Holt steepness
Size_inflection_Commercial	Commercial selectivity inflection (cm)
Size_95%width_Commercial	Commercial selectivity width (cm)
Size_inflection_Recreational	Recreational selectivity inflection (cm)
Size_95%width_Recreational	Recreational selectivity width (cm)

Table B.1: Stock Synthesis parameter label explanation for crimson snapper

Table B.2: Stock Synthesis parameter estimates for the base population model for crimson snapper

Parameter	Estimate	Phase	Min	Max	Initial value	Standard deviation
NatM	0.14	2	0.01	0.5	0.15	0.02
L_at_Amin	33.9	3	10	40	34	0.5
L_at_Amax	61.63	3	40	90	62	1.09
VonBert_K	0.14	3	0.1	0.4	0.13	0.01
CV_young	0.12	5	0.1	0.3	0.13	0.01
CV_old	0.12	5	0.01	0.2	0.11	0.01
SR_LN(R0)	11.69	1	3	19	11.64	0.23
SR_BH_steep	0.7	6	0.2	1	0.7	0.06
Size_inflection_Commercial	51	4	30	60	50	1.51
Size_95%width_Commercial	11.29	4	1	20	11.5	1.39
Size_inflection_Recreational	26.24	4	20	45	26	0.44
Size_95%width_Recreational	3.57	4	0.01	10	3.7	0.53

In addition, recruitment deviations were estimated between 1982 and 2021.

B.2 Goodness of fit

B.2.1 Abundance indices



Figure B.1: Model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper

B.2.2 Length compositions



Figure B.2: Length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper 'N adj.' is the input sample size after data-weighting adjustment. 'N eff.' is the calculated effective sample size used in the McAllister-Iannelli tuning method



Figure B.3: Length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper 'N adj.' is the input sample size after data-weighting adjustment. 'N eff.' is the calculated effective sample size used in the McAllister-Iannelli tuning method



Figure B.4: Length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper 'N adj.' is the input sample size after data-weighting adjustment. 'N eff.' is the calculated effective sample size used in the McAllister-Iannelli tuning method



B.2.3 Conditional age-at-length compositions

Figure B.5: Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual

B.2.4 Discard fraction



Total discard for Recreational

Figure B.6: Model fit to total discards for recreational-charter-Indigenous fleet—circles and error bars represent input data and their associated coefficients of variation and green dashes represent the model predictions

B.3 Other outputs

B.3.1 Phase plot

The purpose of this stock assessment was to report on the health of the stock and provide information to support fishery management. Results were assessed and classified against fishery target and limit reference points outlined in the harvest strategy and harvest strategy policy for Queensland.

Separate to this report and other Queensland government reporting, stock assessment results may be used and cited in separate 'Status of Australian Fish Stocks' (SAFS) reports (www.fish.gov.au). The SAFS classification system applies different inferences and reference points.

The SAFS classification system was designed by the Status of Australian Fish Stocks Reports Advisory Group. The classification system evaluates the status of a stock based on the fishing mortality (F) and biomass (B) relative to a 20% biological limit reference point. The status of a stock is classified as sustainable, depleting, depleted, recovering, negligible or undefined. The terms 'sustainable stock' and 'stock status' in the Status of Australian Fish Stocks Reports 2020 refer specifically to the biological status against the limit reference point.

Broader biological, economic or social considerations are not yet classified in SAFS, such as biomass reference points at maximum sustainable yield (B_{MSY}) or biomass at maximum economic yield (B_{MEY}). B_{MSY} generally ranges 35–40%, when harvest from surplus production (the annual amount by which

the fish population would increase from growth and recruitment) is maximized (Punt et al. 2014). B_{MEY} generally ranges 50–60%, minimising potential loss in profit (Punt et al. 2014).

A phase plot assists in defining SAFS stock status relative to limit reference points for biomass and fishing mortality (FRDC 2021). The plot tracks the annual stock biomass ratio relative to the unfished level, and fishing mortality relative to the target reference point for the biomass limit (Figure B.7).





The horizontal axis is the spawning biomass ratio of Queensland crimson snapper relative to unfished and the vertical axis is the fishing mortality relative to the fishing mortality which would produce the SFS spawning biomass target of 60%. The red dotted vertical line is the limit reference point (20% relative spawning biomass) and the green and yellow dotted vertical lines are the potential target reference points (60% and 40% relative spawning biomass)

B.3.2 Stock-recruit curve



Figure B.8: Stock-recruit curve—point colors indicate year, with warmer colors indicating earlier years and cooler colors in showing later years.



Figure B.9: Modelled harvest for crimson snapper

B.4 Markov chain Monte Carlo

A Markov chain Monte Carlo (McMC) was run on the base case scenario (Scenario 1) for over 4 000 000 iterations to investigate the posterior and ensure a global minimum was found by Stock Synthesis.

Convergence of the McMC was monitored using a factor (\hat{R}) by which the scale of the distribution at the end of the chain might be reduced if the simulations were continued infinitely (Gelman et al. 1995).

This value was calculated to be $\hat{R} = 0.9998 \sim 1$ which does not indicate non-convergence. The calculation was performed using the *rhat* function in the R package "*posterior*" (Bürkner et al. 2020; Vehtari et al. 2020). Further McMC diagnostic plots are shown in Figures B.10, B.11 and B.12.



Figure B.10: Trace plot for final spawning biomass after a Markov chain Monte Carlo for crimson snapper



Figure B.11: Histogram and boxplot for final spawning biomass after a Markov chain Monte Carlo for crimson snapper



Figure B.12: Pairs plot for key parameters and model outputs after a Markov chain Monte Carlo for crimson snapper

Appendix C Sensitivity tests: model outputs



Parameter estimates



Figure C.1 shows that the growth parameters estimated for Scenarios 5 and 12 (in which discards were modelled outside of Stock Synthesis) are outliers compared to the estimates from other scenarios. The von Bertalanffy growth curves, as defined by these estimated parameters and shown in Figure C.2, are not dissimilar across all scenarios.



Figure C.2: Comparison of von Bertalanffy growth curves as defined by estimated growth parameters for all scenarios for crimson snapper





Figure C.3: Scenario 2 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper prior to rezoning



Figure C.4: Scenario 2 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper after rezoning



Figure C.5: Scenario 2 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.6: Scenario 2 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.7: Scenario 2 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.8: Scenario 2 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.9: Scenario 2 modelled harvest

Scenario 3



Figure C.10: Scenario 3 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper prior to rezoning



Figure C.11: Scenario 3 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper after rezoning



Figure C.12: Scenario 3 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.13: Scenario 3 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.14: Scenario 3 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.15: Scenario 3 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.16: Scenario 3 modelled harvest

Scenario 4



Figure C.17: Scenario 4 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper prior to rezoning



Figure C.18: Scenario 4 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper after rezoning



Figure C.19: Scenario 4 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.20: Scenario 4 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.21: Scenario 4 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.22: Scenario 4 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.23: Scenario 4 modelled harvest

Scenario 5



Figure C.24: Scenario 5 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper prior to rezoning



Figure C.25: Scenario 5 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper after rezoning


Figure C.26: Scenario 5 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.27: Scenario 5 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.28: Scenario 5 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.29: Scenario 5 modelled harvest





Figure C.30: Scenario 6 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper prior to rezoning



Figure C.31: Scenario 6 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper after rezoning



Figure C.32: Scenario 6 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.33: Scenario 6 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.34: Scenario 6 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.35: Scenario 6 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.36: Scenario 6 modelled harvest



Figure C.37: Scenario 7 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper prior to rezoning



Figure C.38: Scenario 7 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper after rezoning



Figure C.39: Scenario 7 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.40: Scenario 7 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.41: Scenario 7 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.42: Scenario 7 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.43: Scenario 7 modelled harvest



Figure C.44: Scenario 8 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper



Figure C.45: Scenario 8 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.46: Scenario 8 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.47: Scenario 8 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.48: Scenario 8 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.49: Scenario 8 modelled harvest



Figure C.50: Scenario 9 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper



Figure C.51: Scenario 9 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.52: Scenario 9 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.53: Scenario 9 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.54: Scenario 9 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.55: Scenario 9 modelled harvest



Figure C.56: Scenario 10 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper



Figure C.57: Scenario 10 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.58: Scenario 10 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.59: Scenario 10 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.60: Scenario 10 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.61: Scenario 10 modelled harvest



Figure C.62: Scenario 11 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper



Figure C.63: Scenario 11 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.64: Scenario 11 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.65: Scenario 11 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.66: Scenario 11 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.67: Scenario 11 modelled harvest



Figure C.68: Scenario 12 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper



Figure C.69: Scenario 12 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.70: Scenario 12 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.71: Scenario 12 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.72: Scenario 12 modelled harvest



Figure C.73: Scenario 13 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper



Figure C.74: Scenario 13 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.75: Scenario 13 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.76: Scenario 13 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.77: Scenario 13 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.78: Scenario 13 modelled harvest



Figure C.79: Scenario 14 model predictions (grey line) to commercial catch rates for crimson snapper



Figure C.80: Scenario 14 length structure for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper



Figure C.81: Scenario 14 length structure for the recreational fleet for discarded crimson snapper



Figure C.82: Scenario 14 length structure for the recreational fleet for retained crimson snapper



Figure C.83: Scenario 14 Pearson residuals for age-at-length compositions for the commercial fleet for crimson snapper—circle size represents the magnitude of the Pearson residual



Figure C.84: Scenario 14 modelled harvest

Appendix D Sensitivity tests: other outputs



Figure D.1: Scenario 2 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.2: Scenario 2 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.3: Scenario 3 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.4: Scenario 3 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.5: Scenario 4 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.6: Scenario 4 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.7: Scenario 5 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.8: Scenario 5 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.9: Scenario 6 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.10: Scenario 6 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.11: Scenario 7 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.12: Scenario 7 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.13: Scenario 8 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.14: Scenario 8 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.15: Scenario 9 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.16: Scenario 9 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.17: Scenario 10 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.18: Scenario 10 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.19: Scenario 11 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.20: Scenario 11 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.21: Scenario 12 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.22: Scenario 12 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.23: Scenario 13 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.24: Scenario 13 phase plot for crimson snapper



Figure D.25: Scenario 14 equilibrium harvest curve for crimson snapper



Figure D.26: Scenario 14 phase plot for crimson snapper

Appendix E List of 'other species' in fishery

- Cod greasy
- Camouflage rockcod
- Cod flowery
- Cod bar
- Cod white lined
- Radiant rockcod
- Cod black-tipped rock
- Peacock cod
- Cod black-finned
- Cod tomato
- · Cod birdwire
- Cod coral
- Cod yellow spotted rock
- Cod speckled fin
- Cod blue maori
- Cod hapuku
- Cod red rock
- Cod maori
- Cod red flushed
- Cod blue spot rock
- Cod long finned
- Banded Rockcod
- Blacksaddle Rockcod
- Chinaman Rockcod
- Cod brown banded
- Cod leopard rock
- Cod strawberry rock
- Cod barramundi
- Cod potato
- Cod groper unspecified
- Cod reef unspecified
- Cod unspecified
- Speckled grouper
- · Grouper eight bar
- · Grouper comet
- · Bass groper
- Whitespotted Grouper
- Emperor spangled
- Emperor Unspecified
- Lancer
- Emperor long nose

Stock assessment of Queensland east coast crimson snapper 2021

- · Emperor pink-eared
- · Emperor red ear
- Emperor yellow tailed
- Emperor variegated
- Emperor reticulated
- Emperor orange striped
- Emperor yellow lipped
- Bream japanese large-eye
- Emperor yellow spotted
- Smalltooth Emperor
- Ornate Emperor
- Longfin Emperor
- Bream mozambique
- · Bream blubber lip
- Bream sea
- Bream japanese large-eye
- Bream maori
- Seabream Collar
- Sea bream big eye
- · Emperor red
- Stripey spanish flag
- Jobfish gold banded
- Nannygai small mouth
- Nannygai large mouth
- Nannygai unspecified
- Jobfish rosy
- · Jobfish green
- · Rusty jobfish
- Jobfish small-toothed
- · Jobfish unspecified
- Hussar
- · Hussar unspecified
- Snapper unspecified tropical
- Snapper ruby
- Snapper flame tail
- Snapper onespot
- Snapper pale
- Snapper saddleback
- Olbique-banded snapper
- Midnight Snapper

- Ornate snapper
- Snapper indonesian
- Goldeneye snapper
- · Sharptooth snapper
- Lavender snapper
- Snapper black and white
- · Fiveline Snapper
- · Snapper black spot
- · Cocoa snapper
- Tropical snapper
- · Perch moses
- · Perch dark tailed sea
- Perch maori sea
- Bass red
- · Seaperch swallowtail
- Paddle tail
- Chinaman

· Foxfish

Wrasse - unspecifiedWrasse - sling-jaw

· Wrasse - humphead maori

Redbreast Maori Wrasse

Reefcrest Parrotfish

· Tusk fish - unspecified

· Tusk fish - black spot

Pigfish - gold spot

Eastern PigfishTusk fish - venus

· Tusk fish - blue

· Tusk fish - purple

· Painted sweetlip

· Sweetlip - clown

Oriental Sweetlips

· Sweetlip - striped

· Surgeon fish - convict

· Fusilier - yellow tail

· Fusilier - southern

· Fish - mixed reef b

• Fish - mixed reef a

95

· Fish - mixed reef